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Attachment B 

VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) Inspection Plan 
W.G. (Bill) Hefner VA Medical Center, Salisbury, North Carolina 

June 18-19,2014 

I. Tour radioactive material use, storage, and waste collection/storage areas. Perfonn spot­
check radiation measurements. 

2. Use risk-informed, performance-based inspection approach by observing any ongoing work, 
interviewing workers, and asking workers to demonstrate capability to perform basic radiation 
safety practices. Use applicable Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) inspection procedures 
based on the radiation safety program areas evaluated. 

3. Determine the type and extent of records to review based on performance-based inspection 
results to include, as needed, records since the most recent NHPP inspection for incidents, spills, 
dosimetry, and Radiation Safety Committee meetings. Review all records since the most recent 
NHPP inspection for written directives and annual radiation safety prognun reviews. 

4. Evaluate radioactive material locations of use, review the decommissioning file, if required, 
for authorized radioactive materials, and compare current locations of use to those listed in the 
decommissioning tile and those authorized by permit conditions. 

5. Follow-up on permittee specific issues. 

a. Corrective actions for most recent NRC inspection: Not applicable; an NRC inspection 
has not occuned since the most recent N HPP inspection of December 17, 2013. 

b. Results from Nuclear Materials Events Database (NMED) review: Not applicable; no 
event reports added to NMED since last NHPP inspection (review date: June 16, 2014). 

c. Other issues identified during review of permit files: 

(I) CoU'cspondence: No issues were identified for follow-up during this inspection. 

(2) Inspections: Review implementation and effectiveness ofcon'ective actions for the two 
violations cited by NHPP at last routine inspection on December 17, 2013. One violation was 
issued for failure to sign Radiation Safety Committee minutes within 45 days of meetings. The 
other violation was for failure to have trained/tested employees who prepared radioactive 
materials for shipping. 

(3) Other Information: Follow-up on Record of Contact dated March 24,2014, between 
NHPP and RSO and review permittee corrective and preventive actions for self-identified 
deficiencies. 

( 4) Permits: No additional follow-up items from those stated above were identified. 

d. Review radiation safety-related issues identified in complaint from Office of Special 
Counsel. 

Revised February I 0, 2014 Page I of2 



(b) (6)
(b) (6)



(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)



VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) Inspection Record 

I' ART 1- PERMIT, INSPECTION, INCIDENT/EVENT, AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 

I. AMENDMENTS AND PROGRAM CHANGES 

Amendment No. 48, dated June 25, 2014, updated areas of use. 

Amendment No. 47, dated January 3, 2014, added an authorized user. 

2. INSPECTION AND ENJ70RCEI\1f:NT HISTORY 

The previous NHPP inspection on December 17, 2013, cited two minor violations at Severity Level IV. 
The first violation was for the Director not signing Radiation Safety Committee (RSC) minutes within 
45 days after meetings. The second violatiotl was for not having documented training and testing as 
specified in 49 CFR 172.702 for employees who prepared and/or shipped radioactive materials. 
During this inspection, the inspectors reviewed implementation and etfectiveness of corrective actions 
completed for these violations and considered the actions adequate to close the violations. 

The previous NRC inspection on March 17,2011, cited no violations. 

3. INCIDENT/EVENT HISTORY 

Review of the NRC Nuclear Material Events Database on June 16, 2014, identified no new event 
reports since the last NHPP inspection. No reportable events were identified during the inspection. 

I' ART Il-INSPECTION DOCUMENTATION 

I. ORGANIZATION AND SCOPE OF PROGRAM 

W.G. (Bill) lletner VA Medical Center, Salisbury, North Carolina, utilizes radioactive materials under 
a limited-scope permit for diagnostic medical uses (l 0 CFR 3 5.100 and 35.200 only) at a single street 
address. The permittee pertom1s around 12·14 diagnostic procedures per day with three nuclear 
medicine technologists. The permittee utilizes unit doses obtained lrom a commercial radiopharrnacy. 
Radionuclide generators are not used. PET/CT imaging is not performed. The facility does not 
perform therapeutic uses of unsealed radionuclides or uses of 1-131 sodium iodide greater than 30 11Ci 
(i.e., medical uses under 10 CFR 35.300). The scope of the program remains relatively tmchanged 
fi·om the previous NHPP inspection in December 2013. 

The RSO is a full·time employee of the petmittee and is an authorized user on the permit. The RSO 
reports to the Chief of Staff The RSO has complete autonomy with regard to radiation safety program 
implementation and stop· work authority, and coordinates the radiation safety program through the RSC 
and executive management. 

The RSC submits minutes to the facility's Environment of Care Committee. The RSC meets at least 
twice each year. RSC minutes are timely signed by the Director, since the last NHPP inspection, and 
consistent with VHA requirements. The inspectors reviewed executive management oversight of the 
radiation safety program per VHA Directive 1105.01 and did not identify any oversight issues. The 
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VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) Inspection Record 

inspectors reviewed the use of external consultants and did not identify undue rei iance of management 
on afftliate universities or consultants for implementation of the radiation safety program. 

The inspectors interviewed all three technologists in nuclear medicine to assess their willingness to 
raise safety concerns, if needed, and determined that the individuals were knowledgeable of methods 
for reporting concerns and appeared to be willing to report conccms both internally atld externally if 
needed. Executive management and employees appeared dedicated to putting safety first, having a 
questioning attitude, and a willingness to stop work, if needed, for regulatory compliance. The 
inspectors noted that the RSO and management appeared to resolve radiation safety issues that were 
identified to them in a timely and effective manner consistent with maintaining a positive safety culture 
and a safety-conscious work environment. 

2. INSPECTION SCOPE AND NRC !N~!'_t;:(;TION PROCEDURES USED_ 

The inspection followed a pre-approved inspection plan. The inspection focus was risk-informed and 
performance-based. The inspection consisted of an examination of rooms and equipment used for 
nuclear medicine, review of radiation safety practices, and observations of and interviews with facility 
staff. All items on the inspection plan were completed. The inspectors observed a nuclear medicine 
technologist pcrfonn a package receipt in the hot laboratory and a patient administration of radioactive 
material. 

The inspectors used NRC inspection procedure IP 87130, "Nuclear Medicine Programs, Written 
Directives Not Required." The inspectors used the focus areas in the NRC procedure (i.e., sccw·ity and 
control of radioactive materials, shielding, comprehensive safety measures, dosimeter, instrumentation 
and surveys, training and practices, and management oversight) a11d determined the adequacy of the 
radiation safety program following a perfom1ance-based approach. 

Records reviewed included the following 

Dosimetry results tor 2013 and 2014 (available through April30, 2014) 
RSC minutes for 2014 
Sealed source inventories and leak tests tor 2014 
Records tor spills or reportable incidents (none indicated) 

3. INDEPENDENT AND CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS 

The inspectors completed independent survey measurements in the nuclear medicine hot laboratory and 
scanning areas with a Ludlum Model 2401-P GM tube survey meter, Serial Number 295260, calibrated 
September 17, 20!3. Measurements did not identifY any radioactive contamination. The highest 
exposure realling was 0.06 mR!hr, and was consistent with areas heing maintained as low as reasonably 
achievable (ALARA) and well below levels that would cause a regulatory dose limit to be exceeded for 
staff or members of the public. 

4. t'INDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Sealed sources on site were consistent with those listed on NHPP's Web-based sealed-source 
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VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) Inspection Record 

inventory. 

The RSO and other key staff were aware of the NHPP Intranet Web site and RSO Webinar training. 

The nuclear medicine staff was a war~ of facility-level re4uirements for reporting incidents in 
coordination with other facility-level groups, such as the Patient Safety Officer and quality 
management groups. 

The insp~ctors followed up on permittee-identified items discussed, prior to the inspection, by 
telephone between the RSO and NHPP on March 24,2014. The items included purported performance 
deficiencies with a newly hired supervisocy technologist, who was also hired to eventually be 
appointed as the RSO, in areas of wipe testing ofineoming packages, leak testing for newly acquired 
sealed sources, performing physical inventory of sealed sourcos, preparing shipping paperwork for 
radioactive materials, disposing of permitted materials, and routinely wearing personnel dosimetcy. As 
an overall corrective action for the issues, on March 25,2014, the RSO removed the individual from 
duties involving radiation safety and nuclear medicine processes, including handling of radioactive 
materials. The inspectors' impressions and conclusions for the>c specific items arc discussed below. 

For incoming packages, the inspectors concurred that the individual failed to perfotm and/or 
document perfonnance of wipe surveys on incoming packages on several days. This failure was 
a violation of NRC requirements; however, since the permittee self-identified and corrected the 
issue prior to lh~ inspection, and since the issue has not repeated, the inspectors idcntitied this 
item as a non-cited violation. Additional details arc provided below in Section 5. 

For leak testing of sealed sources, the RSO noted that the individual had difficulties performing a 
leak test on a newly acquired scaled source. NHPP inspectors determined that leak tests were 
within required timefranws per 10 CFR 35.67 because the new source had been leak tested by the 
source manufacturer within 6 months prior to receipt of the source by the petmittce. While it is 
desirable for a supervisory nuclear medicine technologist to have basic knowledge about hm.v to 
perfom1 these tests, the inspectors did not identify a specitic violation for this item. 

For the issue related to perfonning physical inventory ol' sealed sources, the RSO noted that the 
individual had difficulties converting between basic units of activity for entry into NHPP's Web­
based sealed source inventory system. This system is an internal VHA system and is not required 
by NRC regulations. While it is highly desirable for a supervisory nuclear medicine technologist 
and RSO to have basic knowledge about how to perform activity unit conversions, the inspectors 
did not identify a specific violation of NRC requirements for this item. 

For the issue related to preparing shipping paperwork for radioactive materials, the shipment was 
related to sending a low-activity (- 2 mCi) spent Co-57 sealed source to a vendor. Based on the 
activity involved, the source in its shielded container would have qualified as a limited quantity 
shipment such that specific DOT shipping papers would not have been required. While it is 
important to follow vendor specific instructions tor returning sources, the inspectors did not 
identify an NRC violation for this issue, although the circumstance did apparently create 
documentation issues that had to be resolved with the vendor who was taking possession of the 
source. 
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VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) Inspection Record 

For the issue related to improper waste disposal, the RSO noted that on March 19, 2014, the 
individual placed a used radioactive needle in the regular trash. This circumstance could have 
resulted in a violation if the permittee had not retrieved tile item prior to final disposal. While 
this is a performance deficiency, the inspectors did not identify a violation of NRC requirements 
for failure to control radioactive materials since other permittee staff identified the issue and the 
item was retrieved trom the regular trash ptior to final disposal and release from the permittee's 
control. 

For the issue related to not wearing dosimetry, the inspectors were informed that the individual 
lost his finger-ring dosimeter on March 20, 2014, and worked without the linger-ring on March 
20 and March 21, 2014. 111e facility's policy is that individuals who are issued a dosimeter must 
wear the dosimeter when handling radioactive materials. Upon identifYing the lost ring, the 
individual shol!ld have reported the issue to the RSO and obtained a replacement badge before 
continuing to handle radioactive materials. While this represents a facility-specitic performance 
deficiency, the inspectors did not identify a specific violation of NRC requirements because a 
review of past personnel dosimetry results revealed that it was unlikely for the individual to 
exceed the monitoring threshold stated in I 0 CFR 20.1502(a) -specifically 5000 mrem per year 
to extremities. As additional information, the maximum extremity dose for calendar year 2013 
for technologists was 2560 mrem and the scope of use had not significm1tly changed. 

In additional discussions during the inspection, other nuclear medicine technologists revealed 
that the individual did not document personal surveys on several days from I'ebruary 24,2014, 
through March 17,2014. The inspectors agree tllat such surveys arc common practice J1>r nuclear 
medicine staff. Based on standard safety practices observed and used by technologists (e.g., use 
of disposable gloves and routine area surveys), it is unlikely that any signiticant contamination 
would have been inadvertently removed from the area during the period by the individual. 
However, NHPP inspectors agree that end-of-day personnel surveys are a best practice and all 
individuals who handle radioactive materials should follow internal policies established by the 
RSO and permittee management. The inspectors did not identify a specific violation of NRC 
rcquircmcn~ since no objective evidence was provided to indicate that contamination was 
actually removed from the facility and since the RSO took corrective actions to remedy the 
circumstances by revoking the subject individual's radioactive material use privileges. 

As described above, the inspcctot·s evaluated training and procedures for proper receipt and shipping of 
radioactive materials packages and identified several occasions (discussed below) where surveys were 
not performed or documented. The failure was self-identified in that two nuclear medicine 
technologists reported the deficiencies to the RSO, and the RSO took prompt corrective actions to 
address the issue. In addition, the technologists present during tile inspection appeared knowledgeable 
of the methods and requirements for perfmming package receipt surveys. The pern1ittce also 
maintained stafl'tnat was trained and tested per DOT requirements tor shipping. 

The inspectors reviewed radiation postings in area of usc and detennined that postings conformed to 
requirements in 10 CFR 20.1902 and 20.1903. 
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The inspectors reviewed practices for disposal of radioactive materials by decay in storage, including 
maintenance of disposal records tor at least 3 years. The inspectors determined that disposal practices 
and records conformed to requirements in 10 CFR 35.92 and 35.2092. 

The inspectors reviewed practices associated with labeling and storage of radioactive wastes associated 
with gastric emptying studies. The inspectors determined that labeling confonned to requirements in 
10 CrR 20.1904 and 20.1905 and that h:mdling of these wastes conlonncd to requirements in 10 CFR 
20.1801, 20.1802, 35.92, and 35.2092. 

The inspectors reviewed the location of routine duty stations of technologists in concert with areas of 
material use and historical personnel radiation dosimetry results. No individuals exceeded the 
monitoring thresholds in 10 CFR 20.1502 for extemal doses during 2013, and there was no indication 
that work stations subjected workers to doses levels that were inconsistent with the ALARA 
philosophy. 

The inspectors reviewed practices for determining activity and for recording patient dosages for the 
minimum 3-year period required by NRC. Th~ insp~~iu" determined that dosage preparation and 
record keeping practices conformed to requirements in 10 CFR 35.63 and 35.2063. 

5. VIOLATIONS NCVs AND OTHER SAFETY ISSUES 

Cited Violation: 

The inspectors identified one violation.at Severity l.evel IV (minor violation) due to tailure to make a 
required notification and periorm a survey for changes to area of use. During the inspection, the rooms 
identified in NHPP permct files were compared with those althc address of usc, and the inspectors 
dctcm1ined the lacility moved the cardiology stress lab in 20 I 0 from the second floor to the fifth floor 
of Building 2. Prior to the move, the stre" lah area comprised Rooms 2042A (subsequently relabeled 
as 204C.A) and 2042B (subsequently relabeled as 2046). Current stress labs arc located in Rooms 5008 
and 5009. Contrary to !0 CFR 35.14(b)(5), the facility failed to notify NHPP of the changes within 30 
days after the change. In addition, pennittee staff was not able to locate any survey records to 
demonstrate that the former stress labs had been surveyed for release for unrestricted use with respect 
to radioactive materials per I 0 CFR 20.1402 and 20.150 I. 

The notification and survey detlcicncies arc characterized as a single violation because they aw 
associated with the same event. The cause of the violation was not detem1ined with complete certainty 
because key staff(i.e., the RSO and Imaging Supervisor), at the time of the relocation, arc no longer 
employed by tho permittee. The violation was likely caused by a lack of understanding about 
regulatory requirements for notifications and release survey documentation. Due to the short halPife 
of the radionuclides used for stress tests (e.g., 6-hour halt~ life for Tc-99m) and routine policies of (I) 
performing daily smveys in area of use and (2) not storing radioactive materials in stress test areas, the 
torrner stress test areas arc expected to have met unrestricted use requirements in I 0 CFR 20.1402 at 
the time of release and would not have posed a signiticant health and safety risk to other workers and 
members of the public. The areas have been renovated into office areas. This violation is categorized 
in accordance with NRC mfurccmcnl policy as a Severity LevellY violation. Corrective actions 
included rcinstruction of the RSO of notillcation and survey requirements in I 0 CFR 35.14 and 
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NHPP FORM 591 (Revised 2-2014) VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 

------------
PERMIITEEIPERMIT NUMBER: 

W.G. (Bill) Hefner VA Medical Center 
Salisbury, North Carolina 
32.-15483-01 

2. LOCATION(S) INSPECTED: 

1061 Brenner Avenue 
Salisbury, North Carolina 28144 

----------------- --

__ INSPECTION DATE(S): June 18-19, 2014_ _ ______ j. INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER: 659-14-101 

PERMITTEE: 
The inspection was an examination of activities under your permit as they relate to radiation safety and compliance with 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and your permit conditions. The inspection consisted of 
selective examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and performance-based 
observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows: 

0 1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified. 

1Z1 2. Previous violation(s) closed. 

1Z1 3. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited, are not being cited because they were 
self-identified, non-repetitive, corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC 
Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, to exercise discretion, were satisfied. Non-cited violation(s) were discussed 
involving the following requirement(s) and corrective action(s): 

10 CFR 20.1906(c) requires in part that the permittee perform monitoring of external package surfaces as 
required by 10 CFR 20.1906(b) not later than 3 hours after a labeled package of radioactive materials is 
received. Contrary to this requirement, for packages received during normal working hours on March 6, 7, 
19, 20, and 21, 2014, the permittee did not have documentation to support that external surfaces of the 
packages had been monitored for removable radioactivity. The violation was self-identified and self· 
corrected by the permittee prior to the inspection. The violation is attributed to human performance 
difficulties in that the staff member assigned to receive packages on these days did not correctly operate 
sample counting equipment and record counting information. The inspectors did not identify recurrence of 
this violation after corrective actions were taken, which included permanently removing the staff member 
from duties involving radioactive materials on March 25, 2014. 

1Z1 4. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of VHA or 
NRC requirements and are being cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting 
per 10 CFR 1 9.11. The violations and corrective actions are as follows: 

10 CFR 35.14(b)(5) requires a permittee to notify NHPP within 30 days after the permittee has added to or 
changed the areas of use identified in the application or on the permit where permitted material is used in 
accordance with 10 CFR 35.100 or 35.200. Additionally, 10 CFR 20.1501(a) requires that each permittee 
make surveys of areas as may be necessary for the pemnittee to comply with the regulations in 10 CFR 20. 
Contrary to these requirements, during 2010 the permittee moved the cardiology stress test area and did 
not notify NHPP of the change or complete closeout surveys in the former stress test area to comply with 
10 CFR 20.1402. The cause of the violation was not determined with certainty because key staff (i.e., the 
Radiation Safety Officer and Imaging Supervisor), at the time of the relocation, are no longer employed by 
the permittee. The violation was likely caused by a lack of understanding about regulatory requirements for 
notifications and release survey documentation. Due to the very short half-life of the radio nuclides used for 
stress tests, normal procedures of performing daily surveys in areas of use, and not storing radioactive 
materials in stress test areas, the former stress test areas are expected to have met unrestricted use 
requirements in 10 CFR 20.1402 at the time of release such that the areas would not have posed a 
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SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 

significant health and safety risk to other workers and members of the public. Corrective actions included 
reinstruction of the Radiation Safety Officer and Imaging Supervisor of notification and survey requirements 
in 10 CFR 35.14 and 10 CFR 20.1501 by the NHPP inspectors on June 18, 2014, and written notification to 
NHPP on June 19, 2014, about the area changes. The full-compliance date for corrective actions is 
June 19,2014. This is a Severity Level IV violation. 

ACTIONS 

1 hereby state that the actions described above will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of corrective actions is 
made per 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, and date when full compliance will be 
achieved). I understand no further written response to NHPP will be required, unless specifically requested. 

NHPP FORM 5~1 (Revised 2-20H) 
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